1 2	MICHAEL F. BOHN, ESQ. Nevada Bar No.: 1641 mbohn@bohnlawfirm.com			
3	LAW OFFICES OF MICHAEL F. BOHN, ESQ., LTD.			
4	MICHAEL F. BOHN, ESQ., LTD. 2260 Corporate Circle, Ste. 480 Henderson, Nevada 89074 (702) 642-3113/ (702) 642-9766 FAX Attorney for plaintiff/appellant 5316 Clover Blossom Ct Trust		Electronically Filed Jul 15 2021 08:56	n m
5	(702) 642-3113/ (702) 642-9766 FAX Attorney for plaintiff/appellant		Elizabeth A. Brown	1
6	5316 Clover Blossom Ct Trust		Clerk of Supreme	Court
7				
8	SUPREME	COURT		
9				
10	STATE OF N	NEVADA		
11	5316 CLOVER BLOSSOM CT TRUST,	No. 82426		
12	Appellant,	110. 02420		
13	VS.			
14	U.S. BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, SUCCESSOR			
15	TRUSTEE TO BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., SUCCESSOR BY MERGER TO			
16 17	LASALLE BANK, N.A., AS TRUSTEE TO THE HOLDERS OF THE ZUNI			
18	MORTGAGE LOAN TRUST 2006-OA1, MORTGAGE LOAN			
19	PASS-THROUGH CERTIFICATES SERIES 2006-OA1,			
20	Respondent.			
21				
22	ADDELL ANTESC OF	ENING PRIEE		
23	APPELLANT'S OP	ENING BRIEF		
24	Michael F. Bohn, Esq.			
25	Law Office of Michael F. Bohn, Esq., Ltd.			
26	2260 Corporate Circle, Ste. 480			
27	27 (702) 642-3113/ (702) 642-9766 Fax Attorney for plaintiff/appellant,			
28	5316 Clover Blossom Ct Trust			

NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

Counsel for plaintiff/appellant certifies that the following are persons and entities as described in NRAP 26.1(a), and must be disclosed. These representations are made in order that the judges of this court may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

- 1. Plaintiff/appellant, 5316 Clover Blossom Ct Trust, is a Nevada trust.
- 2. Resources Group, LLC, a Nevada limited-liability company, is the trustee for 5316 Clover Blossom Ct Trust.
 - 3. Iyad Haddad a/k/a Eddie Haddad is the manager for Resources Group, LLC.

1	TABLE OF CONTENTS
2	NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE STATEMENTii
3	
4	TABLE OF CONTENTS iii
5	TABLE OF AUTHORITIES
7	
8	Cases v
9	Statutes and rules xi
10	Other authoritiesxii
11	
12	JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENTxii
13 14	ROUTING STATEMENT xii
15	I. ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL
16 17	II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE
18	III. STATEMENT OF FACTS9
19 20	IV. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT11
21	V. STANDARD OF REVIEW
2223	VI. ARGUMENT
24	
25	1. Defendant Bank's deed of trust was extinguished when the
26	1. Defendant Bank's deed of trust was extinguished when the Trust paid the high bid at the HOA foreclosure sale held on January 16, 2013
27	
28	
	iii

1 2 3	2.	The conditional tender of only \$1,494.50 made by Miles Bauer on December 6, 2012 did not cure the default as to the superpriority portion of the HOA's assessment lien
45	3.	Defendant Bank did not prove that it was excused from tendering the superpriority portion of the HOA's assessment lien 24
6 7 8	4.	Defendant Bank's request for declaratory relief based on the Miles Bauer tender was barred by the applicable statute of limitations in NRS 11.190(3)(a)
9 10 11	5.	Defendant Bank's request for declaratory relief based on the Miles Bauer tender was barred by the four year statute of limitations in NRS 11.220
12 13 14	6.	Defendant Bank's request for declaratory relief did not seek "prospective" relief to prevent a "future" violation of its rights 34
15 16	7.	Defendant Bank's request for declaratory relief does not fall within either NRS 11.070 or NRS 11.080
17 18 19 20	8.	Defendant Bank's claim that the conditional tender made by Miles Bauer on December 6, 2012 cured the default as to the superpriority portion of the assessment lien did not relate back to the filing of defendant Bank's answer
212223	9.	Defendant Bank could not properly assert its untimely filed claim based on tender as an affirmative defense
24 25	10.	Defendant Bank's untimely filed claim of tender was barred by the doctrines of waiver, estoppel and unclean hands
262728	11.	Defendant Bank did not prove that the Trust had notice of the unrecorded claim that the default as to the superpriority portion of the HOA's lien was cured by the Miles Bauer tender 53
	Ī	

1	VII. CONCLUSION
2 3	CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE
4	CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
5	
6	TABLE OF AUTHORITIES
7	<u>CASES</u> :
8	Nevada cases:
9	Nevaua Cases.
10	7510 Perla Del Mar Avenue Trust v. Bank of America, N.A.,
11	136 Nev. 62, 458 P.3d 348 (2020)
12	130 Nev. 02, 436 1.3d 346 (2020)
13 14	Anthony S. Noonan IRA, LLC v. U.S. Bank National Association EE,
15	137 Nev., Adv. Op. 15, 485 P.3d 206 (2021) 16, 17, 18, 21
16 17	Bank of America, N.A. v. SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC,
18	124 N (04 427 D 24 112 (2019) 15 1 (22 22 20 21 41 51 52 59
19	134 Nev. 604, 427 P.3d 113 (2018) 15-16, 22, 23, 30-31, 41, 51, 52, 58
20	Berge v. Fredericks, 95 Nev. 183, 591 P.2d 246 (1979) 54-55
21	Board of County Commissioners of Clark County v. CMC of Nevada, Inc.,
22	
23	99 Nev. 739, 670 P.2d 102 (1983)
24	Breliant v. Preferred Equities Corp., 112 Nev. 663, 918 P.2d 314 (1996) 40
25	======================================
26	<u>City of Fernley v. State</u> , 132 Nev. 32, 366 P.3d 690 (2016)
27	<u>Clark v. Robison</u> , 113 Nev. 949, 944 P.2d 788 (1997)
28	Ciaik v. Kuuisuii, 113 mev. 343, 344 F.2u /00 (133/)

1	Collins v. Union Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass'n,
2 3	99 Nev. 284, 662 P.2d 610 (1983)
4	Dredge Corp. v. Wells Cargo, Inc.,
5	80 Nev. 99, 389 P.2d 394 (1964)
7	Elkhorn Community Association v. Mortgage Electronic Systems, Inc.,
8	Eighth Judicial District Court, Case No. A607051
10	<u>Flangas v. State</u> , 104 Nev. 379, 760 P.2d 112 (1988)
l 1 l 2	Hamm v. Arrowcreek Homeowners' Ass'n,
13	124 Nev. 290, 183 P.3d 895 (2008)
14 15	Hardy Cos., Inc. v. SNMARK, LLC,
16	126 Nev. 528, 245 P.3d 1149 (2010)
17 18	<u>In re Harrison Living Trust</u> , 121 Nev. 217, 112 P.3d 1058 (2005)
19	JPMorgan Chase Bank v. Countrywide Home Loans Inc. Countrywide
20 21	Warehouse Lending, et al., Eighth Judicial District Court,
22	Case No. A562678
23 24	Korbel Family Living Trust v. Spring Mountain Ranch Master Ass'n,
25	Eighth Judicial District Court, Case No. A-06-523959-C
26 27	///
28	

1	Las Vegas Fetish & Fantasy Halloween Ball, Inc v. Ahern Rentals, Inc.,
2 3	124 Nev. 272, 182 P.3d 764 (2008)
4	McCarran Int'l Airport v. Sisolak, 122 Nev. 645, 137 P.3d 1110 (2006) 58
5	McKnight Family, LLP v. Adept Management Services, Inc.,
7	129 Nev. 610, 310 P.3d 555 (2013)
8 9	Nationstar Mortgage, LLC v. Saticoy Bay LLC Series 2227 Shadow Canyon,
10	133 Nev. 740, 405 P.3d 641 (2017)
11 12	Nevada State Bank v. Jamison Family Partnership,
13 14	106 Nev. 792, 801 P.2d 1377 (1990)
15	Nevada Yellow Cab Corp. v. Eighth Judicial District Court,
16 17	123 Nev. 44, 152 P.3d 737 (2007)
18	Perry v. Terrible Herbst, Inc., 132 Nev. 767, 383 P.3d 257 (2016) 29-30
19 20	Public Employees' Benefits Program v. Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Dep't,
21	124 Nev. 138, 179 P.3d 542 (2008)
22 23	Resources Group, LLC, as Trustee of E. Sunset Road Trust v. Nevada
24	<u>Association Services, Inc.</u> , 135 Nev. 48, 437 P.3d 154 (2019) 41-42
2526	Saticoy Bay LLC Series 2201 Gray Eagle Way v. JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.,
27 28	133 Nev. 21, 388 P.3d 226 (2017)

1	Saticoy Bay LLC Series 133 McLaren v. Green Tree Servicing LLC,
	Satisfy Bay Ble Series 133 Wellardi V. Green Tree Servicing Ble,
2 3	136 Nev. Adv. Op. 85, 478 P.3d 376 (2020)
4	SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC v. U.S. Bank, N.A.,
56	130 Nev. 742, 334 P.3d 408 (2014)
7	Shadow Wood Homeowners Association, Inc. v. New York Community
8 9	Bancorp, Inc., 132 Nev. 49, 366 P.3d 1105 (2016) 50, 53-54, 57, 58
10 11	Smith v. State, 38 Nev. 477, 151 P. 512 (1915)
12	<u>Stalk v. Mushkin</u> , 125 Nev. 21, 199 P.3d 838 (2009)
13 14	25 Corp. v. Eisenman Chemical Co.,
15	101 Nev. 664, 709 P.2d 164 (1985)
16 17	<u>Vancheri v. GNLV Corp.</u> , 105 Nev. 417, 777 P.2d 366 (1989) 41
18	Williams v. State Dep't of Corrections,
19 20	133 Nev. 594, 402 P.3d 1260 (2017)
21 22	Wood v. Safeway, Inc., 121 Nev. 724, 121 P.3d 1026 (2005) 12-13, 27
23	Yeager v. Harrah's Club, Inc., 111 Nev. 830, 897 P.2d 1093 (1995) 41
24 25	Federal and other cases:
26	<u>Atkins v. Parker</u> , 472 U.S. 115 (1985)
27 28	BAC Home Loans Servicing, LP v. Stonefield II Homeowners Association, et al.

1	No. 2:11-cv-00167 (Feb. 22, 2011)
2 3	Bank of America, N.A. v. Lakeview Owners' Ass'n,
4	2020 WL 4586861 (D. Nev. Aug. 7, 2020)
5 6	Butner v. United States, 440 U.S. 48 (1979)
7	<u>City of Saint Paul, Alaska v. Evans</u> , 344 F.3d 1029 (9th Cir. 2003) 45
8	Dollar Systems, Inc. v. Avcar Leasing Systems, Inc.,
9	890 F.2d 165 (9th Cir. 1989)
11	
12 13	<u>Firato v. Tuttle</u> , 48 Cal.2d 136, 308 P.2d 333 (1957)
14	<u>First Nat. Bank of Davis v. Britton</u> , 94 P.2d 896 (Okla. 1939) 21, 23, 44
15	Gilbert v. City of Cambridge, 932 F.2d 51 (5th Cir.1991)
16 17	Henke v. First Southern Properties, Inc.,
18	586 S.W.2d 617 (Tex. App. 1979)
1920	<u>Hudson House Condo. v. Brooks</u> , 611 A.2d 862 (Conn. 1992)
21	<u>Income Investors v. Shelton</u> , 101 P.2d 973 (Wash. 1940)
22 23	Johnson & Higgins of Tex., Inc. v. Kenneco Energy, Inc.,
24	962 S.W.2d 507 (Tex. 1998)
2526	Levald, Inc. v. City of Palm Desert, 998 F.2d 680 (9th Cir. 1993) 29
27	///
28	

1	Loughrin v. United States,
2 3	573 U.S. 351, 134 S.Ct. 2384 (2014)
4	Mangini v. Aerojet-General Corp.,
56	230 Cal. App. 3d 1125, 281 Cal. Rptr. 827 (Cal. Ct. App. 1991) 29
7	<u>In re Markus</u> , 313 F.3d 1146 (9th Cir. 2002)
9	Miller-Wohl Co., Inc. v. Commissioner of Labor & Industry,
10	685 F.2d 1088 (9th Cir.1982)
11	Moeller v. Lien, 25 Cal. App. 4th 822, 30 Cal. Rptr. 777 (1994) 50-51
13 14	Nguyen v. JP Morgan Chase Bank,
15	No. SACV 11-01908 DOC (Anx), 2012 WL 294936
16 17	(C.D. Cal. Feb. 1, 2012)
18	Power Transmission Equip. Corp. v. Beloit Corp.,
19 20	55 Wis. 2d 540, 201 N.W.2d 13 (1972)
21	<u>Santana v. Holiday Inns, Inc.</u> , 686 F.2d 736 (9th Cir. 1982) 38-39
22 23	S.E.C. v. McCarthy, 322 F.3d 650 (9th Cir. 2003)
24 25	Smith v. School Dist. No. 64 Marion County,
26	131 P. 557 (Kan. 1913)
27 28	Stock West, Inc. v. Confederated Tribes of the Colville Reservation,

1	873 F.2d 1221 (9th Cir. 1989)
2 3	<u>Zuill v. Shanahan</u> , 80 F.3d 1366 (9th Cir. 1996)
4	STATUTES AND RULES:
5	NRCP 8
7	NRCP 15
89	NRCP 596
10	NRS 11.070
11 12	NRS 11.080
13 14	NRS 11.190
	NRS 11.220
16 17	NRS 40.010
18	NRS 47.180
19 20	NRS 47.240
	NRS 47.250. 41
22 23	NRS 107.080
24	NRS 107.090
2526	NRS 111.180
27 28	NRS 111.325 55-56, 57
۷٥	

1	NRS 116.1108
2 3	NRS 116.310313
4	NRS 116.3116
56	NRS 116.31162
7	NRS 116.31166
9	NRS 116.31168
10	OTHER AUTHORITIES:
12	Baxter Dunaway, Interests and Conveyances Outside Acts – Recordable
13	Interests, 2 L. of Distressed Real Est. § 17:16 (2018)
15	Black's Law Dictionary (10th ed. 2014)
16 17	CCICCH, Advisory Opinion 2010-01 (Dec. 8, 2010) 19-20, 23, 25
18	Restatement (Third) of Prop.: Mortgages, § 6.4(1997)
19 20	Restatement (Third) of Prop.: Mortgages, § 7.1 (1997)
21	Uniform Common Interest Ownership Act of 1982 16, 17-18, 19, 22, 23
22 23	6A Wright, Miller & Kane, Federal Practice and Procedure,
24 25	§ 1497 (3d ed. 2010)
26	JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT
27 28	(A) Basis for the Supreme Court's Appellate Jurisdiction: The findings of fact,

conclusions of law, and order granting defendant Bank's motion for summary judgment is appealable under NRAP3A(b)(1).

(B) The filing dates establishing the timeliness of the appeal: The findings of fact, conclusions of law, and order granting defendant Bank's motion for summary judgment was entered on December 29, 2020. Notice of entry of the findings of fact, conclusions of law, and order granting defendant Bank's motion for summary judgment was served and filed on December 29, 2020.

(C) The Trust filed its notice of appeal on January 28, 2021.

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case is a quiet title action. Rule 17 does not list quiet title matters as one of the cases retained by the Supreme Court. Counsel for the Trust therefore believes that this appeal should be assigned to the Court of Appeals.

ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

- 1. Whether the HOA foreclosure sale held on January 16, 2013 extinguished the deed of trust assigned to U.S. Bank, National Association, Successor Trustee to Bank of America, N.A., Successor by Merger to LaSalle Bank, N.A., as Trustee to the Holders of the Zuni Mortgage Loan Trust 2006-OA1, Mortgage Loan Pass-Through Certificates Series 2006-OA1 (hereinafter "defendant Bank").
- 2. Whether the conditional tender of only \$1,494.50 made by Miles, Bauer, Bergstrom & Winters, LLP (hereinafter "Miles Bauer") on behalf of Bank of America, N.A. (hereinafter "BANA") was sufficient to cure the default as to the superpriority portion of the assessment lien recorded by Country Gardens Owners' Association (hereinafter "HOA").
- 3. Whether defendant Bank proved that it was excused from tendering the superpriority portion of the HOA's assessment lien.
- 4. Whether defendant Bank's request for declaratory relief based on the Miles Bauer tender was barred by the applicable statute of limitations in NRS 11.190(3)(a).
- 5. Whether defendant Bank's request for declaratory relief based on tender was barred by the four year statute of limitations in NRS 11.220.
- 6. Whether defendant Bank's request for declaratory relief sought "prospective"

relief to prevent a "future" violation of its rights.

- 7. Whether defendant Bank's request for declaratory relief falls within either NRS 11.070 or NRS 11.080.
- 8. Whether defendant Bank's claim that the conditional tender made by Miles Bauer on December 6, 2012 cured the default as to the superpriority portion of the assessment lien related back to the filing of defendant Bank's answer.
- 9. Whether defendant Bank could properly assert its untimely filed claim based on tender as an affirmative defense
- 10. Whether defendant Bank's untimely filed claim of tender was barred by the doctrines of waiver, estoppel and unclean hands.
- 11. Whether defendant Bank proved that 5316 Clover Blossom Ct Trust (hereinafter "Trust") had notice of the unrecorded claim that the default as to the superpriority portion of the HOA's lien was cured by the conditional tender of \$1,494.50 made by Miles, Bauer to Alessi & Koenig (hereinafter "Alessi").
- 12. An order granting summary judgment is reviewed de novo without deference to the findings of the lower court.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 25, 2014, Trust commenced the above-captioned action by filing a

defendant Bank from foreclosing its deed of trust pursuant to NRS 107.080; 2) entry of a judgment pursuant to NRS 40.010 determining that Trust was the rightful owner of the property commonly known as 5316 Clover Blossom Ct, Las Vegas, Nevada (hereinafter "Property") and that defendants had no right, title, interest or claim to the Property; 2) quiet title; and 3) entry of a declaration that title to the Property was vested in Trust free and clear of all liens and that the defendants be forever enjoined from asserting any right, title, interest or claim to the Property. (Appellant's Appendix Volume 1 (hereinafter AA Vo. 1), pgs.AA0000001-AA000006)

complaint asserting three claims for relief: 1) entry of an injunction prohibiting

On September 25, 2014, defendant Bank filed an answer to the complaint, which did not include any factual allegations or any affirmative defense alleging that the superpriority portion of the lien was tendered prior to the HOA foreclosure sale. (AA Vol. 1, pgs. AA000010-AA000015)

On September 30, 2014, Trust and defendant Clear Recon Corp. filed a stipulation and order for non-monetary judgment between Clear Recon Corp. and Trust. (AA Vol. 1, pgs.AA000016-AA000018)

On April 23, 2015, Trust filed an amended complaint that added specific allegations that the HOA foreclosure sale "complied with all requirements of law."

(AA Vol. 1, pgs.AA000019-AA000021)

On May 6, 2015, the court entered an order granting motion to amend complaint. (AA Vol. 1, pgs.AA000022-AA000023)

On May 18, 2015, the Trust filed a motion for summary judgment. (AA Vol. 1, pgs.AA000024-AA000082)

On July 22, 2015, defendant Bank filed an opposition to plaintiff's motion for summary judgment and countermotion for summary judgment, which opposition and countermotion alleged that "[o]n December 6, 2012, Bank of America tenders \$1,494.50 – which included \$999.50 in 'reasonable collection costs' in addition to the \$495.00 for delinquent assessments – to the HOA Trustee to satisfy the super-priority lien." (AA Vol. 1, pg.AA000086)

On July 29, 2015, the Trust filed a reply in support of plaintiff's motion for summary judgment and opposition to countermotion for summary judgment, or alternatively, for Rule 56(F) relief. (AA Vol. 1, pgs.AA000171-AA000191)

On August 13, 2015, defendant Bank filed a supplemental briefing in support of its countermotion for summary judgment and opposition to plaintiff's motion for summary judgment. (AA Vol. 1, pgs.AA000192-AA000205)

On August 13, 2015, the Trust filed a supplemental points and authorities in

support of plaintiff's motion for summary judgment and opposition to defendant's countermotion for summary judgment. (AA Vol. 1, pgs.AA000206-AA000213)

On September 10, 2015, the court entered findings of fact, conclusions of law, and judgment granting quiet title to the Trust. (AA Vol. 1, pgs.AA000214-AA000220)

On September 18, 2015, defendant Bank filed a notice of appeal. (AA Vol. 1, pgs.AA000230-AA000232)

On June 30, 2017, the Court of Appeals of the State of Nevada entered an order vacating the judgment and remanding the case to the district court, and on August 3, 2017, the district court entered an order vacating judgment and setting further proceedings. (AA Vol. 1, pgs.AA000233)

On September 28, 2017, the Trust and defendant Bank filed a stipulation and order to amend pleading and add parties. (AA Vol. 1, pgs.AA000234-AA000235)

On October 10, 2017, defendant Bank filed an answer to the Trust's amended complaint that added a fourth affirmative defense alleging "the doctrines of tender, estoppel, laches, or waiver," a counterclaim for declaratory relief/quiet title and injunctive relief against the Trust, and unjust enrichment, tortious interference with contractual relations, breach of duty of good faith, and wrongful foreclosure against

the HOA. (AA Vol. 2, pgs.AA000256-AA000338)

On October 23, 2017, the Trust filed a motion to dismiss counterclaim. (AA Vol. 2, pgs.AA000339-AA000394)

On November 9, 2017, defendant Bank filed an opposition to the Trust's motion to dismiss counterclaim. (AA Vol. 2, pg.AA000395 to AA Vol. 3, pg. AA000499)

On November 9, 2017, the HOA filed a motion to dismiss defendant Bank's crossclaims. (AA Vol. 3, pgs.AA000500-AA000510)

On November 21, 2017, the Trust filed a reply in support of motion to dismiss counterclaim. (AA Vol. 3, pgs.AA000511-AA000522)

On November 27, 2017, defendant Bank filed an opposition to the HOA's motion to dismiss defendant Bank's crossclaims. (AA Vol. 3, pgs.AA000523-AA000630)

On November 29, 2017, the Trust filed supplemental authority in support of motion to dismiss counterclaim. (AA Vol. 3, pgs.AA000631-AA000657)

On December 7, 2017, the HOA filed a reply in support of motion to dismiss defendant Bank's crossclaims. (AA Vol. 3, pgs.AA000658-AA000674)

On February 7, 2018, the court entered findings of fact, conclusions of law, and

judgment granting judgment in favor of the Trust against defendant Bank.(AA Vo) 1.
3, pgs.AA000675-AA000688)	

On February 26, 2018, defendant Bank filed a motion for reconsideration under NRCP 59. (AA Vol. 3, pg.AA000705 to AA Vol. 4, pg. AA000906)

On March 14, 2018, the Trust filed an opposition to defendant Bank's motion for reconsideration. (AA Vol. 4, pgs.AA000907-AA000916)

On April 13, 2018, the court entered an order granting the HOA's motion to dismiss defendant Bank's crossclaims. (AA Vol. 4, pgs.AA000917-AA000931)

On May 1, 2018, the court entered an order denying defendant Bank's motion for reconsideration. (AA Vol. 4, pgs.AA000932-AA000935)

On May 10, 2018, defendant Bank filed a notice of appeal.(AA Vol. 4, pgs.AA000936-AA000938)

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