IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

5316 CLOVER BLOSSOM CT TRUST,

Appellant,

VS.

U.S. BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, SUCCESSOR TRUSTEE TO BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., SUCCESSOR BY MERGER TO LASALLE BANK, N.A., AS TRUSTEE,

Respondent.

Electronically Filed Sep 15 2021 06:17 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Case No. 82426

APPEAL

from the Eighth Judicial District Court, Department XXIV
The Honorable Jim Crockett, District Judge
District Court Case No. A-14-704412-C

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

ARIEL E. STERN, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 8276
MELANIE D. MORGAN, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 8215
LILITH V. XARA, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 13138
AKERMAN, LLP
1635 Village Center Circle, Suite 200

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This is a routine tender case under NRS 116.3116. A mountain of binding precedent holds that when the holder of a first deed of trust delivers a check in an amount sufficient to pay the superpriority portion of an HOA's lien before the HOA's foreclosure sale, that is a valid tender and even if the check is rejected, any future foreclosure sale is rendered void as to the tendering party's deed of trust. That is exactly what U.S. Bank's servicer did here, and exactly why the district court correctly entered summary judgment in its favor.

Undeterred, Clover Blossom has filed a 74-page opening appellate brief, purporting to raise some twelve distinct issues on appeal. The opening brief weaves indiscriminately between halfhearted attempts to distinguish existing on-point authority and totally ignoring it. But at no point does Clover Blossom provide a compelling rationale in favor of reversing the district court's judgment here.

This litigation has now been ongoing for seven years, through three appeals.

That is long enough. This Court should end the case by affirming the summary judgment in favor of U.S. Bank.

ARGUMENT

I. Standard of Review

"This [C]ourt reviews a district court's grant of summary judgment de novo." Wood v. Safeway, Inc., 121 Nev. 724, 729, 121 P.3d 1026, 1029 (2005). A motion for summary judgment should be granted "when the pleadings and other evidence on file demonstrate that no 'genuine issue as to any material fact [remains] and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." Id.; NRCP 56(c).

II. This Court Should Affirm the Summary Judgment Based on BANA's Undisputed Tender of the Superpriority Amount.

This Court should affirm the district court's grant of summary judgment because the district court correctly found that under *See Bank of America*, *N.A. v. SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC*, 134 Nev. 604, 427 P.3d 113 (2018), as amended on

denial of reh'g (Nov. 13, 2018), BANA's "tender was sufficient to discharge the super-priority portion of the statutory HOA lien." (7AA 1490).

A. Miles Bauer's tender cured the deficiency as to the superpriority portion of the HOA's lien and rendered the foreclosure sale void as to the Deed of Trust.

As the district court recognized, the Supreme Court of Nevada has left no doubt about the effect of a lender's pre-foreclosure tender: "[a] valid tender of payment operates to discharge a lien or cure a default." *Bank of America*, 134 Nev. at 606, 427 P.3d at 117 (citing *Power Transmission Equip. Corp. v. Beloit Corp.*, 201 N.W.2d 13, 16 (Wis. 1972)).

The United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit has also held that the *Bank of America* decision "resolves" the question presented by cases like this one. *See Bank of America, N.A. v. Arlington W. Twilight Homeowners Ass'n*, 920 F.3d 620 (9th Cir. 2019). In *Arlington West*, the Ninth Circuit interpreted the *Bank of America* decision to mean that under Nevada law "the holder of the first deed of trust can establish the superiority of its interest by showing that its tender satisfied the superpriority portion of the HOA's lien." *Id.* at 624.

Here, just as in *Bank of America*, BANA (through its counsel at Miles Bauer) tendered payment for the HOA's superpriority lien. Specifically, Miles Bauer sent Alessi a letter that offered to pay the superpriority portion. Alessi provided Miles Bauer with an itemized payoff ledger for the lien. Next, Miles Bauer sent a check

for \$1,494.50 along with a letter explaining that this was composed of \$495.00 for delinquent assessments and \$999.50 in "reasonable collection costs" to satisfy the superpriority lien. The letter correctly defined the statutory superpriority sum as "the nine months of assessments for common expenses." *See Horizons at Seven Hills Homeowner Ass'n v. Ikon Holdings, LLC*, 132 Nev. 362, 372-73, 373 P.3d 66, 73 (2016) ("[W]e conclude the superpriority lien granted by NRS 116.3116(2) does not include an amount for collection fees and foreclosure costs incurred; rather it is limited to an **amount equal to the common expense assessments due during the nine months before foreclosure**.") (emphasis added); *accord Bank of America*, 134 Nev. at 607, 427 P.3d at 118 ("A plain reading of this statute indicates that the superpriority portion of an HOA lien includes only charges for maintenance and nuisance abatement, and nine months of unpaid assessments.").²

Under binding Nevada law, the delivery of the check from Miles Bauer "cured the default as to the superpriority portion of the HOA's lien," and meant that "the HOA's foreclosure on the entire lien resulted in a void sale as to the superpriority portion." *Bank of America*, 134 Nev. at 612, 427 P.3d at 121. The district court properly applied that rule in granting summary judgment in favor of U.S. Bank. That judgment should be affirmed.

² There is no evidence that the HOA's superpriority lien included any charges for maintenance or nuisance abatement.

B. Clover Blossom Fails to Identify any Basis for Distinguishing Binding Nevada Law Regarding Tender.

While not directly challenging the binding nature of the *Bank of America* decision, Clover Blossom nonetheless attacks is application here. But Clover Blossom's range from merely meritless to downright frivolous. Not one of its arguments has merit.

First, Clover Blossom argues that the HOA foreclosure sale extinguished the Deed of Trust. AOB at 13-15. Somewhat astoundingly, Clover Blossom makes this argument without once referencing the key issue in this case: the fact that BANA tendered payment to the HOA, and the implications of that fact under the Bank of America decision. While Clover Blossom purports to confront that authority elsewhere, arguing that the foreclosure sale alone meant that "title to the Property was vested in the Trust free of the extinguished deed of trust" without any mention of the fact of tender is downright disingenuous. In any case, Clover Blossom's arguments about the effect of the deed recitals were squarely rejected in Saticoy Bay LLC Series 133 McLaren v. Green Tree Servicing LLC, 136 Nev. Adv. Op. 85, 478 P.3d 376 (2020) ("McLaren"), and Clover Blossom provides no basis for distinguishing that decision.

Second, Clover Blossom purports to recognize the implications of the Bank of America decision, but seems to argue that it does not apply because the tender was both "conditional" and insufficient because it did not cover the full amount of

collection costs and fees incurred by Alessi.³ As an initial matter, Clover Blossom's suggestion that the tender is conditional is not just wrong as a matter of law, *see McLaren*, 478 P.3d at 379; *Renfroe v. Carrington Mortg. Servs.*, *LLC*, 456 P.3d 1055 (Table), 2020 WL 762638, at *2 (Nev. Feb. 14, 2020) – it is also barred by the law of the case in light of the Court of Appeals's rejection of the very same "conditional" argument. *See U.S. Bank, Nat'l Ass'n, as Trustee v. 5316 Clover Blossom Trust*, No. 75861-COA, 2019 WL 5260057, at *2 (Nev. Ct. App. Oct. 16, 2019) ("[W]e reject Clover Blossom's arguments on appeal that the tender was impermissibly conditional").

To the extent that Clover Blossom is arguing that the tender was insufficient because it did not cover all the fees and costs claimed by Alessi, Clover Blossom incredibly does not even address the Nevada Supreme Court's *en banc* decision in. *Ikon Holdings*, rejecting that very argument. *See id.*, 132 Nev. 362, 373, 373 P.3d 66, 73 ("For the reasons set forth above, we conclude that a superpriority lien pursuant to NRS 116.3116(2) does not include an additional amount for the collection fees and foreclosure costs that an HOA incurs preceding a foreclosure sale"). The Supreme Court's reliance on one example in the Uniform Common

³ Given that it is undisputed that (1) Miles Bauer delivered the tender check to Alessi and (2) the tender check was sufficient to cover the full superpriority amount of the HOA's lien, it is not necessary for this Court to consider the fact that the evidence unequivocally establishes that Alessi would have rejected any properly calculated tender check, as there is no need to apply the excuse-of-tender doctrine.

Interest Ownership Act commentary in the recent decision in *Anthony S. Noonan IRA, LLC v. U.S. Bank Nat'l Ass'n EE*, 137 Nev. Adv. Op. 15, 485 P.3d 206, 208 (2021) (en banc) does not provide any basis to believe the Court has abandoned that precedent.

Third, Clover Blossom argues at length that and in various ways that U.S. Bank was time-barred from arguing that the Miles Bauer tender preserved the Deed of Trust in the foreclosure sale. To be clear, U.S. Bank raised the effect of the tender at least as early as June 2015, when it opposed Clover Blossom's original motion for summary judgment. But in any case, Clover Blossom's arguments fail as a matter of law. The Nevada appellate courts have repeatedly rejected the argument that a defense to the effect of an HOA's foreclosure sale could be untimely under a statute of limitations, applying the longstanding Nevada law holding that "[l]imitations do not run against defenses." Dredge Corp. v. Wells Cargo, Inc., 80 Nev. 99, 100, 389 P.2d 394, 396 (1964). See, e.g., TRP Fund VI, LLC v. Ditech Fin. LLC, 481 P.3d 1256 (Table), 2021 WL 911899, at *1 (Nev. Mar. 9, 2021); SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC v. JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., 478 P.3d 342 (Table), 2020 WL 7396063, at *1 (Nev. Dec. 16, 2020); SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC v. Carrington Mortg. Servs., 472 P.3d 187 (Table), 2020 WL 5634160, at *1 (Nev. Sept. 18, 2020); Renfroe, 456 P.3d 1055 (Table), 2020 WL 762638, at *2.

Clover Blossom addresses this issue half-heartedly, arguing in vague fashion that the tender issue was not in the nature of an affirmative defense. *See* AOB at 42-46. Clover Blossom never engages the numerous unpublished decisions from the Nevada Supreme Court holding directly to the contrary. Nor does it address the *Renfroe* decision, where the Nevada Supreme Court directly rejected the notion that a tendering party has an obligation to bring some sort of affirmative claim rather than invoking tender as a defense to a claim seeking declaratory relief. *Renfroe*, 456 P.3d 1055 (Table), 2020 WL 762638, at *2 ("[W]e clarify that Carrington had no obligation to prevail in a judicial action as a condition precedent to enforcing its deed of trust that had already survived the HOA's foreclosure sale. ... Therefore, it was proper for Carrington to respond to Renfroe's suit by explaining that its deed of trust was preserved upon tender, and it was not time-barred from doing so.").

Finally, Clover Blossom resorts to arguing argues in a few places that tender is an equitable concept, and thus the district court erred by failing to apply equitable concepts—such as the factors discussed in *Shadow Wood Homeowners Association*, *Inc. v. New York Community Bancorp, Inc.*, 132 Nev. 49, 366 P.3d 1105 (2016) and the bona fide purchaser doctrine—to disregard the effect of Bank of America's tender. *Renfroe* specifically held (based on the *Bank of America* decision) "that a subsequent property owner is not protected as the transferee of a bona fide purchaser after a valid tender." 2020 WL 762638, at *2 (citing *Bank of America*, 134 Nev. at

609-10, 612, 427 P.3d at 119-20, 121). In doing so, the *Renfroe* decision joined a number of others that also applied *Bank of America*'s holding that tender is a legal doctrine and does not invoke equitable remedies. *See, e.g., 7510 Perla Del Mar Trust v. Bank of America, N.A.*, 136 Nev. 62, 65 n.1, 458 P.3d 348, 350 n.1 (2020) (holding that a tender has the legal effect of causing the association foreclosure sale purchaser to acquire title subject to the existing deed of trust and rejecting argument that equitable principles apply). Clover Blossom offers no reason to reject those binding precedents here.

Clover Blossom's brief may be long, but it is short on substance. Every single one of its arguments is controlled by binding Nevada law. The district court properly applied that binding law to the undisputed facts of this case and granted summary judgment in favor of U.S. Bank. That judgment should be affirmed.

///

///

///

///

///

CONCLUSION

For all of the above reasons, the district court's summary judgment in favor of U.S. Bank should be affirmed.